IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KINJAL H. PATEL,

Petitioner,

S.Ct. Case No.

v.

1st DCA Case No. 1D02-5003

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, FIRST DISTRICT

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Matthew K. Foster, Esquire Florida Bar NO.: 0007927 Edward T. Bauer, Esquire Florida Bar NO.: 0294690 Brooks, LeBoeuf, Bennett, & Foster 863 East Park Avenue Tallahassee, Florida 32301 Telephone No.: (850) 222-2000 Facsimile No.: (850) 222-9757 Attorneys for Petitioner

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS
TABLE OF CITATIONS
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT AND JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT
THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT IN <u>WILLIAMS V. STATE</u> , 757 SO. 2D 597 (FLA. 5 TH DCA 2000).
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

TABLE OF CITATIONS

CASES CITED:

 Williams v. State,

 757 So. 2d 597 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000)

 passim

OTHER AUTHORITIES CITED

Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution4Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv)4Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.191(a)4Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.191(j)59

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On December 15, 2000, the Petitioner and several co-defendants were arrested for the sale of a controlled substance. The Petitioner agreed to assist law enforcement as a confidential informant, and was immediately released from custody. Approximately five days later, the Petitioner and his attorney met with law enforcement and executed a substantial assistance agreement. Although the agreement contemplated that the Petitioner would not be charged until his assistance was complete, the agreement did not contain a waiver of speedy trial, nor did the parties discuss speedy trial at any time.

More than 175 days following his initial arrest, the Petitioner completed his assistance and was again arrested for the same drug charge for which his was

originally arrested on December 15, 2000. At that point, formal charges were filed for the first time, which the Petitioner moved to dismiss by filing a motion for discharge pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.191. Finding a violation of the speedy trial rule, the trial court granted the motion and concluded that the Petitioner was entitled to the automatic discharge due to the failure to hold trial within 175 days of the original arrest.

An appeal was filed by the Respondent to the First District Court of Appeal to review the trial court's order. On October 13, 2003, the First District reversed the trial court's order in a consolidated opinion and held that the failure to hold trial within 175 days was attributable to the Petitioner because the cooperation agreement postponed charges and court proceedings until his assistance was complete. The Petitioner's motions for rehearing and rehearing en banc were subsequently denied on November 17, 2003. The Petitioner's notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this court was timely filed on December 15, 2003.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In this case, the district court of appeal holds that despite that fact that no charging document was filed or a trial held within 175 days of the Petitioner's original arrest, the Petitioner was not entitled to discharge pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.191. In so holding, the district court reasons that because the substantial assistance agreement contemplated that any charges would be postponed until the Petitioner's assistance was complete, any delay was attributable to the Petitioner and therefore speedy trial relief should have been denied pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.191(j)(2). The decision of the district court cannot be reconciled with the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in Williams v. State, 757 So. 2d 597 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000), wherein the court held that the defendant was entitled to speedy trial discharge under factually indistinguishable circumstances. Thus, the Petitioner contends that the First District's decision in this case expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of another district court of appeal on the same point of law.

ARGUMENT AND JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT IN WILLIAMS V. STATE, 757 SO. 2D 597 (FLA. 5TH DCA 2000).

This Court has authority to exercise its discretionary review of any decision of a district court that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court on the same question of law. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). The decision of the district court directly and expressly conflicts with the Fifth District's decision in <u>Williams</u> with respect to the application of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.191 to situations in which a defendant is arrested, immediately released pursuant to an assistance agreement that contemplates a delay in the filing of charges, and subsequently rearrested for the same offense after the expiration of the 175 day speedy trial period.

Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.191(a) provides in pertinent part as follows:

Except as otherwise provided by this rule . . . every person charged with a crime . . . shall be brought to trial within 90 days if the crime charged is a misdemeanor, or within 175 days if the crime charged is a felony The time periods established by this subdivision shall commence when the person is taken into custody.

Courts have interpreted rule 3.191(a) to require an automatic discharge without a

5

recapture period where a defendant is arrested and the state fails to act within the proscribed time limit of 175 days. <u>See, e.g., State v. Hurley</u>, 760 So. 2d 1127, 1128 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000).

In assessing whether the Petitioner was correctly granted discharge by the trial court, the district court's opinion acknowledges that the Petitioner's trial "did not commence within the time periods established by the speedy trial rule," and further observes that the law enforcement officers failed to obtain either oral or written waivers of speedy trial. <u>State v. Bulgin</u>, 28 Fla. L. Weekly D2356 (Fla. 1st DCA October 13, 2003). However, the district court concludes that the lower court erred in granting discharge because rule 3.191(j)(2) precludes relief where the "failure to hold trial is attributable to the accused." The district court reasons that the failure to hold trial was attributable to the Petitioner because the cooperation agreement postponed the charges and court proceedings until his assistance was complete. <u>Id.</u>

The district court decision is in direct conflict with the Fifth District's decision in <u>Williams v. State</u>, 757 So. 2d 597 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000). In <u>Williams</u>, the defendant was arrested for sale of cocaine. 757 So. 2d at 598, 599. Identical to the Petitioner in the instant case, the defendant in <u>Williams</u> offered to serve as a confidential informant, and pursuant to his substantial assistance agreement, was

allowed to leave police custody with the understanding that he would be rearrested and charged at a later time. <u>Id.</u> at 599-600. As a result, "no court proceedings were ever scheduled and the trial was never set." <u>Id.</u> at 600. At the conclusion of his cooperation with law enforcement, just as in the instant case, the defendant was again arrested for the same delivery of cocaine for which he had once been arrested and then "unarrested." <u>Id.</u> at 598. Following his second arrest for the same offense, the defendant's case was scheduled for court proceedings for the first time. <u>Id.</u> at 598, 600. The defendant subsequently filed a motion for speedy trial discharge, which was denied by the trial court. <u>Id.</u> at 598.

In holding that the defendant's motion for discharge should have been granted, the Fifth District reasoned that speedy trial began to run on the date of the defendant's **initial arrest** and expired prior to the defendant being brought to trial. See id. at 598-600. The court further held that the protections of the rule could not be avoided by the police "unarresting" the defendant (i.e., law enforcement releasing the defendant without booking him), and therefore "for the purposes of the speedy trial rule, at least, **there is no such thing as an 'unarrest**'." <u>See id.</u> at 598 (emphasis added). Significantly, the court also held that the defendant could not be estopped from claiming protection under the speedy trial rule simply because he entered into a substantial assistance agreement. <u>Id.</u> at 600. Finally, and

7

most importantly, the court held that the defendant's discharge could have been avoided if the State had obtained a waiver of speedy trial as part of the defendant's cooperation agreement. <u>See id.</u> at 600.

There can be no question that the decision of <u>Williams</u> and of the district court in the instant case are directly in conflict. The Williams decision plainly holds that a defendant is entitled to speedy trial discharge if a trial does not commence within 175 days of the original arrest even where the defendant enters into a substantial assistance agreement that provides for his immediate release and contemplates a delay in the filing of charges until the assistance is complete. Williams, 757 So. 2d at 598-600. Only if the substantial assistance agreement contains a waiver of speedy trial, the Williams decision holds, would the defendant be precluded from obtaining speedy trial discharge. <u>Id.</u> at 600. On the other hand, the district court in the instant case holds under identical factual circumstances that where a substantial assistance agreement contemplates a delay in the filing of charges, the delay is attributable to the defendant and accordingly the defendant cannot claim the protection of the speedy trial rule, even if law enforcement fails to obtain a waiver of speedy trial as part of the agreement.

It is critical to observe that the direct and express conflict is not reconciled by the district court's two grounds for distinguishing <u>Williams</u>. Specifically, the opinion below reads as follows with respect to Williams:

The Fifth District Court of Appeal held that the initial arrest starts the running of the speedy trial time and that, for the purposes of the rule, <u>there is no such thing as an "unarrest</u>." We agree with that holding, but that is not the case presented here. The <u>defendants were not subject to any procedures labeled an</u> "<u>unarrest</u>," and the exception under the speedy trial rule upon which we base our ruling, Fla. R.Crim. P. 3.191(j)(2), was not decided in <u>Williams</u>.

Bulgin, 28 Fla. L. Weekly D2356 (emphasis added).

Strangely, as the foregoing passage demonstrates, the district court announces its agreement with the <u>Williams</u> court that there is no such thing as an "unarrest," yet in the next sentence brings its decision into direct and express conflict with <u>Williams</u> by denying the Petitioner the protection of the speedy trial rule for failing to demonstrate an "unarrest" occurred. In addition, even if an "unarrest" existed for the purposes of the speedy trial rule, it would be the <u>State</u>, not the accused, attempting to demonstrate that an "unarrest" occurred, as an "unarrest" would presumably toll the running of speedy trial, whereas an <u>arrest</u> starts the running of the speedy trial period. <u>See</u> Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.191(d).¹

¹ Although it is irrelevant whether the Petitioner was "unarrested," it is significant to note for the purpose of demonstrating direct conflict that the district court's implication that the Petitioner was subjected to different "procedures" than the <u>Williams</u> defendant following his arrest is belied by the face of its own opinion. Specifically, the district court's decision clearly states that the Petitioner was arrested, released pursuant to an assistance agreement, and subsequently re-

Further, the direct and express conflict between the district court's decision and <u>Williams</u> is not reconciled by the district court's explanation that the Fifth District did not "decide" Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.191(j)(2) when it granted speedy trial relief to the Williams defendant. This is demonstrated by Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.191(p)(1), which provides that "no remedy shall be granted to any defendant" under this rule until the court has made the required inquiry under subsection (j)." As the foregoing passage clearly indicates, rule 3.191(p)(1) required the Fifth District to consider whether any of the exceptions listed in rule 3.191(j) were applicable prior to granting relief, including the exception contained in subsection (j)(2) involving delays attributable to the accused. Thus, while the Fifth District never specifically discussed subsection (j)(2) in its opinion, it nevertheless "decided" that a substantial assistance agreement which contemplates a delay in the filing of charges does not constitute a delay attributable to the accused pursuant to rule 3.191(j)(2) when it granted the <u>Williams</u> defendant discharge under the rule.²

arrested for the same offense following the completion of assistance. While the parties below did not use the artificial label "unarrest" to describe the Petitioner's initial release from custody, it is clear from the four corners of both opinions that the events surrounding the Petitioner initial arrest and release are indistinguishable from what occurred in <u>Williams</u>.

² As early as 1980, rule 3.191 has <u>automatically</u> <u>required</u> courts to determine whether the delay "is attributable to the accused" prior to granting speedy trial relief. <u>See</u> Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.191(d)(3) (1980).

CONCLUSION

This court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision below, and

the court should exercise that jurisdiction to consider the merits of the petitioner's

argument.