IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM C. BULGIN,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. SC03-2214

AMENDED JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT R. WHEELER
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0796409

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Appellant in the District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioner, William C. Bulgin, the Appellee in the DCA and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or proper name.

"PJB" will designate Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief.

That symbol is followed by the appropriate page number.

A bold typeface will be used to add emphasis. Italics appeared in original quotations, unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State accepts Petitioner's statement of the case and facts to the extent it summarizes the facts that were set forth by the appellate court. The facts pertinent to this Court's jurisdictional determination are set forth in the First District Court of Appeal opinion:

The appellees/defendants were all arrested on December 15, 2000 for the sale of a controlled substance. The three agreed to cooperate with law enforcement in a continuing drug investigation and were released. On December 20, 2000, the defendants, about accompanied by their attorneys, agreed to provide substantial assistance to law enforcement The law enforcement officials conducting drug buys. agreed that no charges would be filed until their assistance was complete. These agreements satisfied

the defendants' concern that formal charges and court appearances would jeopardize their covert assistance. The defendants did not sign speedy trial waivers and there was no discussion of the issue. After differing levels of cooperation with law enforcement, the defendants were arrested and charged. The defendants filed motions for discharge based on the speedy trial rule, Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.191, which were granted by the trial courts. The State argues that the speedy trial rule is not applicable because the defendants caused the delay. We agree and therefore reverse.

State v. Bulgin, 858 So. 2d 1096 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The "four corners" of the DCA's decision reveals no operative facts which demonstrates an express and direct conflict with <u>Williams v. State</u>, 757 So. 2d 597 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000). The cases address different propositions of law which are not in conflict. Absent any express and direct conflict between the decision below and decisions of this Court or of any other district court, this Court should decline to exercise jurisdiction.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

<u>ISSUE I</u>

WHETHER THERE IS EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT BETWEEN THE DECISION BELOW AND WILLIAMS V. STATE, 757 So. 2d 597 (Fla 5th DCA 2000)(Restated).

Appellate Standard of Review

The applicable appellate standard of review for claims of direct and express conflict is **de novo** subject to the following criteria.

Jurisdictional Criteria

Petitioner contends that this Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. See Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). The constitution provides:

The supreme court ... [m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal ... that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law.

The conflict between decisions "must be express and direct" and "must appear within the four corners of the majority decision." Reaves v. State, 485 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986).

Accord Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Nat'l Adoption Counseling Service, Inc., 498 So.2d 888, 889 (Fla. 1986)(rejected "inherent" or "implied" conflict; dismissed petition). Neither the record, nor a concurring opinion, nor a dissenting opinion can be used to establish jurisdiction.

Reaves, supra; Jenkins v. State, 385 So.2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980)("regardless of whether they are accompanied by a dissenting or concurring opinion"). In addition, it is the

"conflict of *decisions*, not conflict of *opinions* or *reasons* that supplies jurisdiction for review by certiorari." <u>Jenkins</u>, 385 So. 2d at 1359.

In <u>Ansin v. Thurston</u>, 101 So. 2d 808, 810 (Fla. 1958), this Court explained:

It was never intended that the district courts of appeal should be intermediate The revision and modernization of the Florida judicial system at the appellate level was prompted by the great volume of cases reaching the Supreme Court and the consequent delay in the administration of The new article embodies throughout its terms the idea of a Supreme Court which functions as a supervisory body in the judicial system for the State, exercising appellate power in certain specified areas essential to the settlement of issues of public importance and the preservation of uniformity of principle and practice, with review by the district courts in most instances being final and absolute.

In the case at hand, the determination of conflict jurisdiction distills to whether the district court's decision reached a result opposite to <u>Williams v. State</u>, 757 So. 2d 597 (Fla. 5^{th} DCA 2000).

Jurisdiction to review because of an alleged conflict requires a preliminary determination as to whether the Court of Appeal has announced a decision on a point of law which, if permitted to stand, would be out of harmony with a prior decision of this Court or another Court of Appeal on the same point, thereby generating confusion and instability among the precedents.

Kyle v. Kyle, 139 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1962). The conflict must be

such that if the case at hand and the <u>Williams</u> case were rendered by the same court, the <u>Williams</u> case would have the effect of overruling the instant case. <u>Id</u>.

The decision below is not in "express and direct" conflict with Williams v. State.

"This court may exercise discretion to review a decision of the district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or the supreme court on the same question of law." <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So.2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980). The "four corners" of the DCA's decision reveals no operative facts which demonstrates an express and direct conflict with <u>Williams v. State</u>, 757 So. 2d 597 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000). Moreover, the cases address different propositions of law which are not in conflict.

Conflicts between decisions must be express and direct, i.e., it must appear within the four corners of the majority decision. Reaves v. State, 485 So.2d 829 (Fla. 1986). In a footnote, the Reaves court noted the following:

The only facts relevant to our decision to accept or reject such petitions are those facts contained within the four corners of the decisions allegedly in conflict. As we explain in the text above, we are not permitted to base our conflict jurisdiction on a review of the record or on facts recited only in dissenting opinions. Thus, it is pointless and misleading to include a comprehensive recitation of facts not appearing in the decision below, with citations to the record.

<u>Id</u>. That is, the decision of the district court of appeal must contain facts within the text of the opinion itself to support conflict jurisdiction.

Conflict must be obvious and patently reflected in the decisions relied on. <u>Trustees of Internal Imp. Fund v. Lobean</u>, 127 So.2d 98,101 (Fla. 1961). The conflict must result from an application of law to facts which are in essence on all fours, without any issue as to the quantum and character of proof. <u>Id</u>.

The facts set forth by the lower court decision in the case at hand are clearly distinguishable from the facts found in Williams. In the case at hand, Petitioner was arrested on December 15, 2000 for the sale of a controlled substance. agreed to cooperate with law enforcement in a continuing drug investigation by providing substantial assistance and was released. Law enforcement agreed not to file charges until his assistance was complete. The agreement satisfied Petitioner's concern that formal charges and court appearances would jeopardize his covert assistance. Petitioner did not sign a speedy trial waiver. After the substantial assistance broke down, Petitioner was charged. The facts in Williams v. State, supra, are different. In Williams, the defendant was arrested for selling cocaine and later agreed to assist law enforcement

as an informant. <u>Id</u>. At 598. As a result of the defendant's agreement, "[t]he police then effected what the state attorney termed an 'unarrest'." <u>Id</u>. After acting as an agent for the police for a number of weeks, the defendant was again arrested for the same crime for which he had been "unarrested." <u>Id</u>.

In <u>Williams</u>, the police arrested the defendant, "unarrested" the defendant, and then rearrested him. In the case at hand, no such "unarrest" took place. As the First District Court of Appeal pointed out in its opinion, the case at hand had nothing to do with the fact of an "unarrest," as did the <u>Williams</u> case:

The defendants cite Williams v. State, 757 So. 2d 597 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000) as controlling authority. Williams, the defendant was arrested for selling cocaine and later agreed with police to assist in drug enforcement operations as an informant. Id. at 598. "The police then effected what the state attorney termed an 'unarrest.'" <u>Id</u>. The Fifth District Court of Appeal held that the initial arrest starts the running of the speedy trial time and that, for purposes of the rule, there is no such thing as an "unarrest." Id. We agree with that holding, but that is not the case presented here. The defendants were subject to any procedures labeled "unarrest," and the exception under the speedy trial rule upon which we base our ruling, Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.191(j)(2) was not decided in Williams.

<u>State v. Bulgin</u>, 858 So. 2d at 1096. Consequently, the facts of the instant case are not on all fours with <u>Williams v. State</u>.

More importantly, as stated by the appellate court below, the case at hand was decided on an entirely different point of law than in <u>Williams</u>. Review for conflict of decisions is not

proper where the cases address different propositions of law.

Curry v. State, 682 So.2d 1091 (Fla. 1996). The instant case and Williams address completely different propositions of law which are not in conflict.

In the case at hand, Petitioner filed a motion for discharge based on the speedy trial rule, Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.191, which was granted by the trial court. On appeal, the State argued that the speedy trial rule was not applicable because Petitioner caused the delay. The State relied upon an exception to the speedy trial rule, Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.191(j)(2), and asserted that the failure to hold trial was attributable to the accused. The appellate court agreed and reversed.

In <u>Williams</u>, the appellate court clearly identified the legal issue to be addressed in that case: "[T]his appeal must now resolve the legal issue of whether a person can be arrested for a crime, unarrested, and then rearrested, and, if so, whether the first arrest starts the running of the speedy trial time, or the second arrest, or conceivably, the third, fourth, fifth, etc." <u>Williams v. State</u>, 757 So. 2d at 598. Without question, this is a completely different legal issue than what the First District Court considered in the case at hand. The appellate court in <u>Williams</u> never considered the exception to

the speedy trial rule that the delay was attributable to the accused, as was asserted in the case at hand. Instead, the court determined whether the state could "unarrest" a defendant in order to comply with the speedy trial rules. This was not the legal issue before the First District Court of appeal in the case at hand.

The Williams case and the instant case were resolved on different factual and legal grounds. To be sure, Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief admits that there is no direct and express conflict. In an attempt to explain that direct and express conflict exists despite the fact that the appellate court in Williams never addressed the issue of the Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.191(j)(2) exception to the speedy trial rule as did the appellate court in the case at hand, Petitioner states: "Thus, while the Fifth District never specifically discussed subsection (j)(2) in its opinion, it nevertheless 'decided' that a substantial assistance agreement which contemplates a delay in the filing of charges does not constitute a delay attributable to the accused pursuant to Rule 3.191(j)(2) when it granted the <u>Williams</u> defendant discharge under the rule." PJB at 9.

Obviously, there can be no "direct and express" conflict if the <u>Williams</u> court "never specifically discussed" the rule of

criminal procedure that was determinative of the appellate court's opinion in the case at hand. If the <u>Williams</u> court did not expressly and directly consider the rule of criminal procedure exception, there can be no express and direct conflict of the decisions. There was no "direct and express" conflict between the result in lower court decision and <u>Williams</u>, and this Court should decline to exercise jurisdiction.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reason, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court decline to exercise jurisdiction.